RECEIVED

Apr 04 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000023
Circuit Court Case No. 2022-CP-22-00912

Michael T. Green and Carrie J. Green, Julian P. Rutledge and Melvin L. Rutledge; Carlethia B. Jenkins; Frances Jo Baker; Parkersville Planning & Development Alliance, Inc.; Keep It Green, Inc.; and Preserve Murrells Inlet, Inc.

Appellants,

v.

Georgetown County, Laine CRE, LLC; TriStar Land, LLC; and Samuel J. Nesbit on behalf of the heirs of Will Nesbit

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT FAILED TO STATE A CLAIM THAT GEORGETOWN COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE PROVISIONS REQUIRING COUNTY COUNCIL TO APPROVE SITE PLANS WERE *ULTRA VIRES* BECAUSE THEY CONFLICTED WITH THE ENABLING ACT AND DENIED RIGHTS GRANTED BY THE ENABLING ACT?

2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT FAILED TO STATE A CLAIM THAT GEORGETOWN COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE PROVISIONS REQUIRING COUNTY COUNCIL TO APPROVE SITE PLANS WAS A DENIAL OF PLAINTIFFS' RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS?

3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT FAILED TO STATE A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT?

4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY CONSIDERING THE MERITS OF THE UNDERLYING CONTROVERSY AND APPLYING AN EVIDENTIARY PRESUMPTION IN THE CONTEXT OF A RULE 12(b)(6) MOTION TO DISMISS?

5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT AS A MATTER OF LAW ON THE BASIS OF FAILURE TO ALLEGE CONSTITUTIONAL DEPRIVATION?

6. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS INTERPRETATION AND APPLICATION OF THE ENABLING ACT REQUIREMENT THAT ZONING "REGULATIONS MUST BE MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FOR THE JURISDICTION" AND IN FINDING THAT GEORGETOWN COUNTY MET THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENT IN THIS CASE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The narrow issue before the court is whether Plaintiffs' Complaint sufficiently sets forth a cause of action under the broad provisions of the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, S.C. Code 1976, §§ 15-53-10, *et seq.*, hereinafter "Declaratory Judgments Act."

Appellants assert that the trial court improperly dismissed Plaintiffs' Complaint on Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, Motions to Dismiss. This dismissal was improper because Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint: (1) properly states a cause of action under the Declaratory Judgments Act; and (2) raises issues of material fact that cannot properly be resolved in a Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss without development of the record. Appellants rely on six arguments to support their position that the trial court improperly dismissed Plaintiffs' Complaint on a Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a cause of action.

1. Summary of Complaint

This Complaint involves two land development subdivision applications proposing "high density" multi-family housing on two vacant parcels of heirs' property land designated as "medium density" by the Georgetown County Comprehensive Land Use Plan and Maps. These parcels are located in the heart of a traditional African American community known as "Parkersville."

Both subdivision applications were denied by Georgetown County Planning Commission after public hearing on August 18, 2022, on the basis that they conflicted with the Comprehensive Plan. No appeal was filed from the Planning Commission's decisions to deny. After denial by Planning Commission, County Council improperly reversed the Planning Commission decisions and approved both subdivision applications without further input, review, consideration, or decision by Planning Commission.

Plaintiffs' Complaint is supported by 139 paragraphs of detailed factual averments incorporating fifteen exhibits. The Complaint requests declaratory relief as follows:

- (a) Georgetown County Ordinance provisions requiring site plans to be approved by County Council were void on the basis of *ultra vires* because they (i) conflicted with explicit provisions of the South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994, S.C. Code 1976, §§ 6-29-310, *et seq.*, (hereinafter "Enabling Act"); (ii) denied rights granted by the Enabling Act; and (iii) denied due process.
- (b) County Council's approval of a site plan that had been denied by Planning Commission was invalid on the basis of *ultra vires* because of conflicts with the Enabling Act, denial of rights granted by the Enabling Act, and denial of due process.
- (c) Planning Commission's decision to deny the site plan was not appealed in accordance with the Enabling Act and should serve as the final and binding decision.
- (d) The procedure followed and the facts considered by County Council in making its decision to approve the site plan violated the Enabling Act, local ordinances, and due process.
- (e) The approved high density subdivision itself violated the Enabling Act and local ordinances.

2. Procedural History

Plaintiffs are six individual adjoining landowners and three community organizations that represent landowners in the vicinity. (Complaint, pars. 11-30). Defendants are Georgetown

County, Laine CRE, LLC, TriStar Land, LLC, and Samuel J. Nesbit, on behalf of the heirs' of Will Nesbit. (Complaint, pars. 31-35).

Defendants filed Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP, Motions to Dismiss on December 21, 2022, and March 27, 2023, and on June 22, 2023, Defendants Georgetown County, Laine, and TriStar filed memoranda in support of their motions. On June 22, 2023, Plaintiffs filed a Preliminary Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendants' Motions to Dismiss.

On June 23, 2023, a WebEx virtual hearing was held, and on July 18, 2023, an Order was entered granting Defendants' Motions to Dismiss. Plaintiffs filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on July 28, 2023. An in-person hearing was held on Plaintiffs' Rule 59(e) Motion on November 7, 2024, which was denied by Order dated December 11, 2023.

Plaintiffs filed a timely Notice of Appeal on January 5, 2024.

FACTS

This claim involves five subsections of Section 607 of the Zoning Ordinance of Georgetown County, South Carolina (hereinafter "Ordinance 607") that Plaintiffs contend were *ultra vires* because they conflicted with the Enabling Act and denied rights granted by the Enabling Act. (Complaint, pars. 4, 5, 7, 70-76, 92, 123-128). At issue is the approval of two high density multi-family subdivisions on two separate parcels of vacant land located in the heart of one of the oldest traditional African American communities in Pawleys Island, Georgetown County, South Carolina, commonly known as "Parkersville." The parcels were designated by the Georgetown County Comprehensive Plan and Maps ("Comprehensive Plan") as "Medium Density." (Complaint, par. 1).

The high density subdivision applications were denied by Georgetown County Planning Commission after public hearing on August 18, 2022, on the basis that they conflicted with the residential density requirements of the Comprehensive Plan. (Complaint, pars. 2, 65-69). Even though Section 6-29-1150(D) of the Enabling Act provides for judicial appeal from a Planning Commission decision, no appeal of this decision was filed by any of the Defendants. (Complaint, pars. 3, 69).

Instead, on September 27, 2022, Georgetown County Council, relying on the provisions of Ordinance 607 at issue, reversed the decision of the Planning Commission and approved the high density subdivision applications without further input, review, consideration, or discussion by the Planning Commission. (Complaint, pars. 4-6, 22, 70-93).

This decision by County Council was based on application of the following subsections of Ordinance 607 that address multi-family developments:

§ 607.207 A development of more than five (5) two-family buildings with a net density of five units per acre or greater *shall have a site plan*

reviewed by the Planning Commission, approved by County Council and comply with the following: ... (Amended Ord. 2011-41).

(emphasis added).

§ 607.306 A multi-family development of more than ten (10) dwelling units with a net density of five units per acre or greater *shall have a site plan reviewed by the Planning Commission, approved by County Council* and comply with the following: ... (Amended Ord. 2011-41).

(emphasis added).

§ 607.307 A development of ten (10) multi-family dwelling units or less *will be reviewed by Planning staff.* (Amended Ord. 2008-48).

(emphasis added).

§ 607.4025 A development of more than ten townhouses with a net density of five units per acre or greater *shall have a site plan reviewed by the Planning Commission, approved by County Council* and comply with the following: ... (Amended Ord. 2011-41).

(emphasis added).

§ 607.4026 A development of ten (10) townhouses or less *will be reviewed by Planning Staff.* (Amended Ord. 2008-48).

(emphasis added).

Plaintiffs contend that the above ordinance provisions were *ultra vires* because: (1) they conflict with Sections 6-29-1150 and 6-29-1155 of the Enabling Act which require ultimate approval or disapproval of site plans by Planning Commission and which grant rights to parties seeking approvals or denials; and (2) these ordinance provisions effectively eliminate rights granted by the Enabling Act. (Complaint, pars. 7, 60-64, 70-93, 123-128).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a decision on a Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, “the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.” *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 397, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007). “In considering a motion to dismiss a complaint based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the trial court must base its ruling *solely on allegations set forth in the complaint ...*” *Id.* 398, 247-48 (emphasis added). “If the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on *any* theory, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

The case at bar also involves questions of law and statutory interpretation for which the standard of review is *de novo*. *South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. Calhoun County Council*, 432 S.C. 492, 854 S.E.2d 836, 837 (2021), (“[T]he interpretation of a statute is a question of law for the Court to review *de novo*.”)

ARGUMENTS

1. GEORGETOWN COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE PROVISIONS REQUIRING COUNTY COUNCIL TO APPROVE SITE PLANS WERE *ULTRA VIRES* BECAUSE THEY CONFLICT WITH THE ENABLING ACT AND DENY RIGHTS GRANTED BY THE ENABLING ACT.

A. The Two Roles of the Planning Commission

Under the Enabling Act, the Planning Commission has two different roles. First, the Planning Commission is responsible for developing and recommending plans, policies, and regulations for adoption by the City or County Council.¹ Second, the Planning Commission and its staff are responsible for administering the regulatory schemes addressed in Article 7, Section 6-29-1110, *et seq.*, of the Enabling Act.

One central part of the Planning Commission's administrative role is the approval or disapproval of "site plans." The effect of the subsections of Ordinance 607 at issue was to substitute the County Council for the Planning Commission and its staff in the approval or disapproval of site plans.

B. Rights Granted by Section 6-29-1150 and 6-29-1155

Sections 6-29-1150 and 6-29-1155 of the Enabling Act provide a framework for site plan approvals and disapprovals by the Planning Commission and its staff and for the judicial appeals from the grant or denial of an application for site plan approval.

The subsection 6-29-1150(A) states: "The land development regulations adopted by the governing authority *must* include a specific procedure for the submission and approval or disapproval by the planning commission or designated staff." (emphasis added). The use of "must" in this sentence is important. *See, e.g., South Carolina Police Officers Retirement Sys. v.*

¹ *See generally* Enabling Act, §§ 6-29-340, 6-29-510, 6-29-520.

City of Spartanburg, 301 S.C. 188, 391 S.E.2d 239 (1990) (noting that “must” is considered mandatory under principles of statutory construction).

The remainder of section 6-29-1150(A) provides:

Time limits, not to exceed sixty days, must be set forth for action on plans or plats, or both, submitted for approval or disapproval. Failure of the designated authority to act within sixty days of the receipt of development plans or subdivision plats *with all documentation required by the land development regulations* is considered to constitute approval, and the developer must be issued a letter of approval and authorization to proceed based on the plans or plats and supporting documentation presented. The sixty-day time limit may be extended by mutual agreement.

(emphasis added).

Subsection 6-29-1150(B) provides: "A record of all actions on all land development plans and subdivision plats with the grounds for approval or disapproval and any conditions attached to the action must be maintained as a public record. In addition, *the developer* must be notified in writing of the actions taken." (emphasis added).

Subsection 6-29-1150(C) addresses appeals from staff decisions as follows:

Staff action, if authorized, to approve or disapprove a land development plan may be appealed to the planning commission by *any party in interest*.² *The planning commission must act on the appeal within sixty days and the action of the planning commission is final.*

(emphasis added).

Under general principles of exhaustion of administrative procedures, before filing an appeal in court,³ an appeal from a staff decision *must* be addressed by an administrative appeal to

² For a discussion of “any party in interest,” see *Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc. v. Greenville Cnty. Plan. Comm’n*, 426 S.C. 97, 106–07, 825 S.E.2d 721, 726 (Ct. App. 2019).

³ See *Stanton v. Town of Pawley’s Island*, 309 S.C. 126, 128, 420 S.E.2d 502, 503 (1992); *Moore v. Sumter Cnty. Council*, 300 S.C. 270, 272, 387 S.E.2d 455, 457 (1990); *De Pass v. City of Spartanburg*, 234 S.C. 198, 202,

the Commission in order to preserve the right to appeal to Circuit Court.⁴

Subsection 6-29-1150(D) addresses appeals from the Planning Commission. Subsection 6-29-1150(D)(1) states: "An appeal from the decision of the planning commission must be taken to the circuit court within thirty days after actual notice of the decision."

In terms of record on appeals, the court in *Austin v. Board of Zoning Appeals*, 362 S.C.29, 34-35, 606 S.E.2d 209, 211-12 (Ct. App. 2004), held that the requirement of "final decisions and orders" could be satisfied by "written documents as well as records of proceedings."

Issues concerning docketing of the appeal and of jury versus nonjury treatment of the appeal are addressed in subsections 6-29-1150(D)(3) and 6-29-1150(D)(4). There is also a right of the property owner whose land is the subject of a Commission decision to seek pre-litigation mediation. The procedure for pre-litigation mediation is addressed in subsection 6-29-1150(D) and in section 6-29-1155.

C. Role of the Enabling Act

The Rhode Island Supreme Court stated the general principle for applying an enabling act as follows: Where a local government "purports to restate that for which provision is made in the enabling act, any attempt to expand or abridge in the zoning ordinance rights granted by the enabling act is *ultra vires* of the jurisdiction conferred upon such a local legislature by the

107 S.E.2d 350, 351 (1959). Exhaustion of remedies does not apply to a challenge to issues concerning the constitutionality of the statute establishing the agency. *Ward v. State*, 343 S.C. 14, 19-20, 538 S.E.2d 245, 248 (2000).

⁴ *Austin v. Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 362 S.C.29, 34-35, 606 S.E.2d 209, 211-12 (Ct. App. 2004); *see also Vulcan Materials Co. v. Greenville Cnty. Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 342 S.C. 480, 495, 536 S.E.2d 892, 899 (Ct. App. 2000) (reaching a similar holding).

General Assembly and, therefore, is void.” *Hardy v. Zoning Board of Review of the Town of Coventry*, 321 A.2d 289, 290–291 (R.I. 1974).

The South Carolina Supreme Court applied this principle in *Sinkler v. County of Charleston*, 387 S.C. 67, 690 S.E.2d 777 (2010). At issue was the rezoning of a large parcel of land from the classification AG-15 (agricultural with minimum lot area of three acres) to PD (“Planned Development District”). This PD district would have 107 dwellings, which was the same number as would be allowed under AG-15; however, the minimum lot size for the PD was reduced to one acre.

Sinkler noted that Section 6-29-720(C)(4) of the Enabling Act explicitly authorizes the use of planned development schemes and quoted the following language:

“[P]lanned development district” or a development project comprised of *housing of different types and densities and of compatible commercial uses*, or shopping centers, office parks, and mixed-use developments. A planned development district is established by rezoning prior to development *and is characterized by a unified site design for a mixed-use development*.

690 S.E.2d at 781 (emphasis in original). *Sinkler* also quoted Section 6-29-740, which contains additional details concerning a PD district. This section provides:

In order to achieve the objectives of the comprehensive plan of the locality and to allow flexibility in development that *will result in improved design, character, and quality of new mixed use developments* and preserve natural scenic features of open spaces, the local governing authority may provide for the establishment of planned development districts as amendments to a locally adopted zoning ordinance and official zoning map. The adopted planned development map is the zoning district map for the property. *The planned development provisions must encourage innovative site planning for residential, commercial, institutional, and industrial developments within planned development districts*.

690 S.E.2d at 779 (emphasis in original).

The Supreme Court, relying on the statutory language quoted above, held:

[T]he [zoning] ordinance [with only residential uses] did not meet the parameters of a PD ... [H]aving invoked that technique, it could not arbitrarily fail to meet the requirements for a PD. Consequently, we hold *the circuit court correctly ruled the ordinance is invalid because it did not properly establish a PD as contemplated by the terms of the Enabling Act.*

690 S.E.2d at 781, 782 (emphasis added).

D. The Ordinance Provisions at Issue Are *Ultra Vires*

The July 18, 2023, Order of Court relies on the principle that courts should be deferential to legislative decisions by local governments. (July 18, 2023, Order, pp. 4-8). However, this deference is not applicable herein because, as in *Sinkler v. County of Charleston*, the ordinance provisions at issue were *ultra vires*. The South Carolina Legislature adopted a scheme for addressing site plan approval in Sections 6-29-1150 and 6-29-1155 of the Enabling Act. Because the Ordinance provisions at issue eliminate rights and requirements provided by the Enabling Act, Georgetown County lacks the power to delete the provisions of this scheme.

The Order never addresses the conflict between the Ordinance 607 provisions at issue and provisions like Subsection 6-29-1250(A) of the Enabling Act which states: “The land development regulations adopted by the governing authority *must* include a specific procedure for the submission and approval or disapproval by the planning commission or designated staff.” (emphasis added). Though the Order quotes this language at page 6, the Order never addresses the role of the requirement or the importance of the use of the mandatory term “must.”

The Order refers to subsections 607.4025 and 607.40254 of Ordinance 607, but never addresses the difference between “review” vis á vis the statutory language of “approval or disapproval” in subsection 6-29-1150(A). In effect, the lack of application of the test for conflict with state law indicates a somewhat *ipse dixit* approach to decision-making.

As indicated in Part C above, the ordinance provisions at issue eliminate substantial rights granted by Sections 6-29-1150 and 6-29-1155 of the Enabling Act. As with the language in subsection 6-29-1250(A), the Order adopts the same approach of failing to address the conflicts between the Ordinance 607 provisions at issue and the provisions of the Enabling Act. More specifically, the Order does not address the provisions of Ordinance 607 that conflict with the Enabling Act in the following ways:

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