RECEIVED

Oct 02 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson
Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2022-CP-22-00912

Appellate Case No. 2024-000023

Michael T. Green and Carrie J. Green; Julian P. Rutledge and Melvin L. Rutledge; Patricia S. Grate; Carlethia B. Jenkins; Frances Jo Baker; Parkersville Planning & Development Alliance, Inc.; Keep It Green, Inc.; and Preserve Murrells Inlet, Inc., Plaintiffs,

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court correctly held that Appellants failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for declaratory judgment. Therefore, the Court should affirm the decision of the circuit court in favor of Respondents.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT APPLIED THE PROPER STANDARD ON A RULE 12(b)(6), SCRPC, MOTION.

The circuit court correctly reviewed Appellants' claims as solely presenting questions of law and dismissed Appellants' claims accordingly. *See Madison v. Am. Home Prods. Corp.*, 358 S.C. 449, 451, 595 S.E.2d 493, 494 (2004) ("Where . . . the dispute is not as to the underlying facts but as to the interpretation of the law, and development of the record will not aid in the resolution of the issues, it is proper to decide even novel issues on a motion to dismiss."). Appellants admit that this case involves questions of law and statutory interpretation. (Apps.' Br. 14). Appellants' argument that the circuit court improperly considered the merits of the case or applied some sort of inappropriate evidentiary presumption misunderstands the basis upon which the circuit court made its ruling. First, the only "evidentiary presumption," if one can call it that, applied by the circuit court was to review the Complaint in the light most favorable to Appellants for the purposes of a 12(b)(6) motion. Appellants don't appear to argue that this is the incorrect standard of review on a 12(b)(6) motion. (Apps.' Br. 14). Instead, Appellants have twisted the circuit court's reiteration of well-established law into an assertion that the presumption of legislative validity creates a presumption of evidence which can never be applied at the 12(b)(6) stage. (Apps.' Br. 33–34).

Appellants also appear to misinterpret the circuit court's application of well-established law to the allegations of their Complaint. While factual allegations in a complaint are generally presumed true for purposes of a 12(b)(6) motion, the same cannot be said for legal conclusions. *DeBerry v. McCain*, 275 S.C. 569, 574–75, 274 S.E.2d 293, 296 (1981) (holding that in ruling on a

motion to dismiss, the court must assume facts in the complaint to be true, but not legal conclusions asserted in the complaint); *see also Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc. v. Horry County*, 426 S.C. 175, 180, 190, 826 S.E.2d 585, 587, 593 (2019) (emphasizing that facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, are viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff). The rule is that if those facts and reasonable inferences therefrom would not entitle the plaintiff to relief under any legal theory, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is proper. *Flateau*, at 202, 584 S.E.2d at 415. This is the standard applied by the circuit court in its ruling. Applying this standard, the circuit court concluded that the factual allegations of Appellants' Complaint failed to state a claim for declaratory judgment under any theory of law.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE ZONING ORDINANCES REQUIRING SITE PLAN REVIEWS BY THE GEORGETOWN COUNTY COUNCIL HAVE NOT DEPRIVED PLAINTIFFS OF THEIR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS AND DO NOT CONFLICT WITH SOUTH CAROLINA LAW, AND, THEREFORE, THE PRESUMPTION OF THEIR VALIDITY CANNOT BE REBUTTED BY APPELLANTS' CLAIMS FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT.

On appeal, Appellants challenge the validity of the zoning ordinances requiring site plan reviews on two bases: (1) the ordinance conflicts with state law and is therefore *ultra vires*; and (2) the ordinance deprives Appellants of their due process rights. As discussed below, neither is grounds for reversing the order of the circuit court.

A. Appellants have not been deprived of their constitutional rights.

The circuit court recognized, correctly, that courts are limited in their authority to review and invalidate zoning decisions made by local governing bodies. (R. p. 6; Order 4). South Carolina jurisprudence so restricts a court's authority to infringe upon a county's zoning decisions that a court may only invalidate an ordinance after finding that the ordinance has violated constitutional rights. *See Knowles v. City of Aiken*, 305 S.C. 219, 224, 407 S.E.2d 639, 642 (1991) ("Courts have no prerogative to pass upon the wisdom of the municipality's decision unless such decision is 'so

unreasonable as to impair or destroy a citizen’s constitutional rights.” (quoting *Hampton v. Richland County*, 292 S.C. 500, 503, 357 S.E.2d 463, 465 (Ct. App. 1987))).

A zoning ordinance is a legislative act which must be presumed to be constitutional. *Town of Scranton v. Willoughby*, 306 S.C. 421, 422, 412 S.E.2d 424, 425 (1991); *see also Knowles*, 305 S.C. at 224, 407 S.E.2d at 642 (“Zoning is a legislative act which will not be interfered with by the courts unless there is a clear violation of constitutional rights.”); *see also Ani Creation, Inc. v. City of Myrtle Beach Board of Zoning Appeals*, 440 S.C. 266, 278, 890 S.E.2d 748, 754 (2023) (“Courts must make every presumption in favor of the constitutionality of a legislative enactment.”). A zoning ordinance violates constitutional rights when it deprives an individual of their property without due process of law. *McClanahan v. Richland County Council*, 350 S.C. 433, 441, 567 S.E.2d 240, 243–44 (2002) (finding that county council’s adoption of the county’s comprehensive plan did not deprive appellant of his property nor did the process by which it was adopted). While a court may invalidate an ordinance where it finds there has been a violation of constitutional rights, it may not substitute its judgment for that of the local zoning ordinance where no such violation is present. *Bear Enters. v. County of Greenville*, 319 S.C. 137, 141–42, 459 S.E.2d 883, 886 (Ct. App. 1995).

Zoning and land use decisions must be upheld so long as the propriety of the local governing body’s decision is “fairly debatable.” *Knowles*, 305 S.C. at 223, 407 S.E.2d at 642. A decision is fairly debatable when it is “not so unreasonable as to impair or destroy [a] citizen’s constitutional rights.” *Id.* at 224, 143 S.E.2d at 643 (internal quotations omitted). “The burden of proving the invalidity of a zoning ordinance is on the party attacking it, and it is incumbent upon [the challenger] to show the arbitrary and capricious character of the ordinance through clear and convincing evidence.” *Dunes West Golf Club, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 401 S.C. 280, 298, 37 S.E.2d 601, 610 (2013) (quoting *Willoughby*, 306 S.C. at 422, 412 S.E.2d at 425) (internal quotations

omitted).

Applying these principles to the challenged ordinance in this case, Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance 607, requires upholding the ordinance. At the outset, with respect to Appellants' claim that the ordinance violates their due process rights, "[i]t is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review." *B & A Dev., Inc. v. Georgetown Cnty.*, 372 S.C. 261, 271, 641 S.E.2d 888, 894 (2007) (citing *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 529 S.E.2d 543 (2000)); see also SCACR Ruel 210(c) ("The Record shall not .. include matter which was not presented to the lower court or tribunal.").³ Here, Appellants did not raise a due process violation to the trial court on their motion to strike or on their motion to reconsider, and thus the trial court did not rule on this issue. Appellants also did not allege in their Complaint that their due process rights were violated, nor did the Complaint allege any facts sufficient to state such a claim. Only now, do Appellants argue for the first time that they have been deprived of due process. Therefore, any such arguments are not preserved and should not be considered by this court. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) ("An issue that was not preserved for review should not be addressed by the Court of Appeals...").

In any event, there is no merit to Appellants' argument that they have been deprived of due process. According to Appellants, their due process rights are violated because the provisions of Ordinance 607 "contain no controls or guides for the discretion granted to the Georgetown County Council." (Apps.' Br. 22). This is clearly not so. Sections 607.4 and 607.3 of Ordinance 607 contain many requirements for townhouses within a general residential zoning district. These include

³ Respondents intend to file a motion to strike any materials and references related to Appellants' due process claim and requests the Court ignore and/or strike the portions of Appellant's brief that reference it.

guidelines for approval of a proposed townhome development, design requirements, and parking requirements, among others, all of which County Council must comply with in making decisions. Therefore, unlike in the case relied upon by Appellants, *Schloss Poster Advertising Co. v. City of Rock Hill*, 190 S.C. 92, 2 S.E.2d 392 (1939), where the ordinance at issue delegated unrestrained power to the legislative body to issue permits, with no controls guiding the exercise of its discretion, here, sufficient controls exist in Sections 607.4 and 607.3 to ensure that County Council does not have unfettered discretion in its decision-making process.

Additionally, any assertions by Appellants that they have been denied rights of some sort granted by the Planning Act are misplaced and are based upon a legal fiction. (Apps.' Br. 8, 10, 12–13, 15–17, 19–20). The Planning Act does not operate to grant substantive rights. There are provisions which permit certain parties the ability to file a suit contesting an ordinance or zoning decision, but such a provision works only so far as to provide statutory standing to those parties. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-760; S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150. Appellants have failed to appreciate the clarifying language provided by the General Assembly in enacting such provisions, however. “An owner of adjoining land or his representative has standing to bring an action contesting the ordinance or amendment; however, *this subsection does not create any new substantive right in any party.*” S.C. Code Ann. 6-29-760(C) (emphasis added). This express language, as well as the applied function of the other Planning Act provisions cited by the Appellants in their Brief, make it clear that the General Assembly did not intend to create any new substantive rights through the enactment of the Planning Act.

The circuit court was therefore correct in its finding that Appellants' Complaint did not plead facts which could sufficiently establish a claim for declaratory judgment because there were no allegations that the challenged Ordinances infringed upon any constitutional rights of the Appellants.

B. Ordinance 607 does not conflict with state law.

At the outset, the circuit court aptly noted that the Complaint fails “to specifically identify which ordinances [Appellants] are seeking to challenge.” (R. p. 8; Order 6). It is assumed from reasonable inferences that the intended target of the Complaint is Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance 607, and its provisions directing that certain major development proposals, such as those at issue in this case, have “site plan(s) reviewed by the Planning Commission” and then “approved by County Council.” Georgetown Zoning Ordinance § 607.4025. Attempting to invalidate these provisions, the Complaint, and now Appellants’ Brief, point to certain sections of the Planning Act and argue that the Ordinance conflicts with state law and therefore must be invalidated.

However, a proper analysis of all pertinent parts of the Planning Act reveals no conflict with Ordinance 607. This is because County Council ultimately determines the terms of the land use regulations and zoning ordinances for Georgetown County that best effectuate the purposes enumerated in the Planning Act. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 6-29-760, 1130. Although County Council may permit the Planning Commission to review and approve a development plan, it is within the authority of County Council to enact zoning ordinances which include procedural safeguards, such as additional approval for larger developments, in order to protect and promote the intended purposes of the Planning Act and good land use principles of the County.

Ordinance 607 does just that. It allows medium-to-high density residential uses in a General Residential district, where the properties at issue are located. It further sets out specific requirements in Section 607.4 for townhouses within a general residential zoning district. These requirements include guidelines for approval of a proposed townhouse development, such as design requirements, parking requirements, as well as additional requirements set out in the ordinance provisions controlling multi-family developments. Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance § 607.4. Ultimately, it is apparent from the Ordinance that a policy decision was made by the County that County

Council was to be vested with final approval authority over larger and/or more densely populated development proposals, including larger scale townhouse developments, like those proposed in the Applications in this case. This procedural process is not prevented by the terms of the Planning Act – rather, the opposite is true. Such a procedure is in keeping with good zoning practices to better ensure that the purposes of the Planning Act are being promoted by allowing the County’s governing body appropriate discretion in furthering the welfare of its citizens in their housing.

Because of these adequate safeguards built into Ordinance 607, the circuit court properly determined from this well-established legal framework that Ordinance 607 does not conflict with the Planning Act and that because there are no constitutional deprivations alleged in this case, there is no mechanism under the law by which to grant the remedy sought by Appellants.

Appellants take a much too narrow approach in picking a mere handful of subsections of an otherwise extensive state law that touches upon and impacts multiple areas of this case. Appellants omit that the Planning Act directs that the creation and regulation of zoning districts is within the purview of the governing body of a county. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-720(A). The language of the statute also reflects an intent to leave the crafting of the procedural process for approving development plans to the governing bodies of counties. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1120(A) (“The land development regulations adopted by the *governing authority* must include a specific procedure for the submission and approval or disapproval by the planning commission or designated staff”) (emphasis added). Additionally, the General Assembly’s stated purposes of the Planning Act are directly within the purview and responsibility of the governing body of a county, not the Planning Commission. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1120 (stating that the purpose of Article Seven is to provide counties with the ability to create regulations promoting public health and safety, good order, and “progressive development of land.”); S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-710 (stating that the purpose of Article Five is to “further the public welfare in any other regard specified by the governing body.”)

(emphasis added). These stated purposes are directly within the purview and responsibility of the governing body of a county. The governing body of Georgetown County is County Council, not the Planning Commission.

Appellants' reference to a Rhode Island legal principle is misplaced here. It should go without saying that the law of Rhode Island is not the law of South Carolina. (Apps.' Br. 17–18 (quoting *Hardy v. Zoning Board of Review of the Town of Coventry*, 321 A.2d 289, 290–91 (R.I. 1974)). South Carolina courts have taken great pains to effectuate the intent of its state legislature that when it comes to zoning, counties and municipalities of this State are to be given great deference. Further, while there is a general principle that state law supersedes county or municipal laws where a conflict exists, here, no conflict exists because County Council has adopted and utilized a zoning scheme within its enumerated powers.

Lastly, Appellants' reliance on *Sinkler v. County of Charleston* misunderstands the holding in that case. 387 S.C. 67, 75–76, 690 S.E.2d 777, 781 (2010). For one thing, *Sinkler* represents a narrow review and application of the Planning Act's requirements regarding Planned Development Districts (PDD), which are not at issue here. This case does not involve a PDD, and the statutory provisions examined in *Sinkler* do not relate to this case.

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